Student number: W123456

TYPE OF ASSIGNMENT: Individual Assignment

Class of 2024

Subject:

Number of credits:

Deadline Date:

<u>Given by:</u>

Word count: 4000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TASK 1
Introduction to Mutuality in P&I Clubs
Financial Stability and Risk Management4
Member-Centric Approach
Collective Bargaining Power
Adaptation to Changing Risks and Regulations5
Challenges and Opportunities
Owners' Legal Rights to Limitation of Liability6
Mutuality and Standard Terms of Contract7
Interplay Between Mutuality, Limitation of Liability, and Standard Contractual Terms7
Critical Analysis and Discussion
Conclusion9
TASK 2
Introduction
Understanding the Arbitration Clause
Pay to be Paid Clause:
Arbitration Agreement:
Purpose and Significance of Arbitration Clauses:11
Applicable Law and Jurisdiction:
Analysis of Choice of Law Provision:
Discussion of Jurisdictional Issues:
Validity of the Arbitration Clause:
Examination of Key Principles:
Consent:
Fairness:
Enforceability:
Consideration of Statutory and Common Law Provisions:
Arbitration Act 1996:
Unfair Contract Terms Act 1977 13
Legal Consequences of Validity
If the Arbitration Clause is Deemed Valid:
Implications for State "V"'s Attempt to Initiate Compensation Proceedings:
Enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement:

If the Arbitration Clause is Deemed Invalid:	14
Potential Consequences for Dispute Resolution:	14
Examination of Alternative Methods for Resolving the Jurisdictional Conflict:	14
Determining Applicable Law:	15
Case Law	15
Premium Nafta Products Ltd v Fili Shipping Co Ltd [2007] UKHL 40	15
Naviera Amazonica Peruana S.A. v Campania Interncional de Seguros del Peru (The Clara') [1988] 1 Lloyd's Rep 116:	
Conclusion	15
Recommendations:	16
Negotiation and Mediation	16
Compliance with Contractual Obligations	16
Seek Legal Advice	16
Efficient Dispute Resolution	16
References	17

TASK 1

Introduction to Mutuality in P&I Clubs

The principle of mutuality stands as the cornerstone for Protection and Indemnity (P&I) clubs, aiding as the foundation upon which these organizations operate (Steamship Mutual, 2023). Stemming from the notion of mutual insurance, P&I clubs have historically exemplified the cooperative spirit of maritime communities, where ship-owners band together to cooperatively manage risks associated with their procedures (North P&I Club, 2021). The Lloyd's List article of 18 June 2020, titled "P&I Clubs: Practicing synergy like it's 1899," highlights the historical evolution of P&I clubs, shedding light on their origins in late Victorian England and the succeeding establishment of the International Group of Protection and Indemnity Clubs (IG) to spread mutual coverage globally (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022). P&I club maneuver on the principle of mutual indemnity, where ship-owners pool their resources to provide liability coverage for a wide variety of risks, including third-party obligations, freight claims, pollution instances, and crew injuries. This collective approach to risk-sharing reflects the quintessence of mutuality, underscoring cooperation, solidarity, and shared accountability among members. By joining forces through mutual membership, ship-owners gain access to inclusive insurance protection personalized to their specific needs, while also subsidizing to the financial solidity and sustainability of the P&I club system (North P&I Club, 2021; Steamship Mutual, 2023).

Financial Stability and Risk Management

The principle of mutuality serves as a major factor in ensuring the financial stability of P&I clubs by spreading risks over a considerable number of mutual members. In contrast to the typical insurance companies driven by a profit-making motive, P&I club function on a non-profit basis, with the surplus funds returned to the members or retained for future claims (The Standard Club, 2022). This joint pooling of resources allows P&I clubs to withstand the large and unforeseen insurance claims, thereby facilitating the security of the interests of all stakeholders in the maritime industry within the IG framework (International Maritime Organization, n.d.). The Lloyd's List article highlights the importance of collaboration between P&I clubs under the IG framework, which indicates their combined efforts to share the risks and cooperate through centralized mechanisms like the Bermuda-registered segregated cell captive called Hydra (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022). By concentrating their reinsurance requirements, the P&I clubs may secure the most preferred terms and access the world's largest

reinsurance contracts, therefore enlarge their capacity to absorb losses and face financial stability across a long-term period.

Member-Centric Approach

One of the key principles underpinning mutuality in P&I clubs is a member-centric approach to insurance provision (Gard, 2023). Unlike commercial insurers focused solely on maximizing profits, P&I clubs prioritize the needs and interests of their members, reflecting the democratic nature of mutual organizations (American Club, 2021). This commitment to member satisfaction is evident in various aspects of P&I club operations, including claims handling, risk management services, and loss prevention initiatives (UK P&I Club, 2022). P&I clubs strive to ensure a fair distribution of benefits among members, offering competitive premium rates, responsive claims assistance, and tailored insurance solutions tailored to the diverse needs of the shipping community (UK P&I Club, 2022). While competition between P&I clubs exists, particularly in areas such as loss prevention and service quality, mutual collaboration remains paramount, as highlighted by the sharing of information and data on safety-related issues such as containership fires (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022).

Collective Bargaining Power

Mutuality enriches the combined bargaining power of P&I clubs in their ability to obtain favorable terms with reinsurers and service providers, hence allowing them to offer cost effective insurance coverage to their members (Polemis & Wu, 2020). By consolidating their purchasing through mutual pooling, P&I clubs get a chance to access reinsurance capacity at reasonable rates, mitigating the impact of market fluctuations and guaranteeing the availability of flexible coverage for maritime risks (International Group of P&I Clubs, n.d.). The Lloyd's List article shows the collaborative spirit of the IG, where P&I clubs work together to secure reinsurance arrangements that individual clubs could not attain on their own. Cooperation with their mutual partnership and shared risk pooling, P&I clubs strengthen their position in the insurance market, which improves its capability to cover the shipping industry's changing needs while assuring financial stability and sustainability (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022; UK P&I Club, 2022).

Adaptation to Changing Risks and Regulations

Mutuality permits P&I clubs to adapt their operations and services to highlight growing risks and regulatory necessities, representing flexibility and resilience in the aspect of dynamic

market conditions (International Chamber of Shipping, 2023). As emphasized in the Lloyd's List article, P&I clubs stay committed to maintain high standards of security and environmental protection, cooperating with industry stakeholders to share best practices and offer a culture of constant enhancement (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022). The principle of mutuality inspires P&I clubs to originate and modernize to meet the developing requirements of their members, leveraging technology and data analytics to increase risk assessment, claims management, and loss prevention policies (Steamship Mutual, 2023). Through innovation with the maintenance of the principles of mutuality and collective risk sharing, P&I clubs can direct regulatory complexities and evolving challenges while distributing value-added services to their members (North P&I Club, 2021).

Challenges and Opportunities

Regardless of its strengths, the principle of mutuality faces difficulties in a diverse nd competitive maritime insurance market (British Maritime Law Association, 2020). P&I clubs should fight with developing administrative necessities, mechanical interruptions, and international vulnerabilities, which might strain their monetary assets and functional abilities (International Transport Forum, 2022). Additionally, maintaining member satisfaction and loyalty within changing market dynamics necessitates P&I clubs to remain cautious and proactive in featuring arising dangers and opportunities. However, within these challenges lie opportunities for P&I clubs to strengthen the principle of mutuality, by improving collaboration, innovation, and governance practices (Gard, 2023). By leveraging their shared expertise and resources, P&I clubs can progress sustainable solutions to discourse shared challenges like the cybersecurity threats, climate change impacts, and regulatory compliance necessities (American Club, 2021). Moreover, by fostering greater transparency and engagement with their members, P&I clubs can build trust and flexibility in the face of improbability, therefor supporting the permanent relevance of mutuality in the maritime insurance industry (UK P&I Club, 2022).

Owners' Legal Rights to Limitation of Liability

The legal rights of owners are however still assured under International conventions like the International Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims (LLMC) 1976 that offers an institutionalized framework for ship operators to limit their financial liability of assured maritime claims (International Maritime Organization, n.d.). P&I clubs serve as fundamental entities that center on providing their members with all the different means to enjoying free and fair rights, legal assistance, claims handling expertise, as well as specially designed protocols to easily pass through intricate legal measures while broadly reducing legal risks (Steamship Mutual, 2023). The principle of mutuality enriches owners' ability to efficiently limit liability by firming their collective bargaining power and shared risk pooling within P&I clubs (North P&I Club, 2021Through the collaboration with fellow ship-owners, participants can gain a better position in negotiations of their contracts insurance that will cover items like the limitation of liability as well as indemnity coverage (Polemis & Wu, 2020). Additionally, P&I clubs offer valuable provision in defending members against speculative claims and resolving disputes through alternative dispute resolution mechanisms, therefore securing their legitimate rights and financial interests (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022).

Mutuality and Standard Terms of Contract

Standard terms of contract play an important role in leading contractual relationships between ship-owners, charterers, and P&I clubs, forming the rights, responsibilities, and liabilities of parties involved in maritime businesses (International Chamber of Shipping, 2023). These standard contractual terms often comprise provisions related to P&I coverage, liability limitations, and claims handling measures, reflecting industry best performs and legal necessities (British Maritime Law Association, 2020). Devotion to standard terms supports the principle of mutuality within P&I clubs by stimulating consistency, transparency, and fairness in risk-sharing provisions (The Standard Club, 2022). By supporting their insurance contracts with recognized industry norms and regulatory principles, P&I clubs develop the probability and dependability of their insurance products, therefore raising trust and confidence amongst their members (International Group of P&I Clubs, n.d.). Additionally, standard contractual terms assist efficient claims handling and dispute resolution, reducing legal suspicions and administrative burdens for all parties involved (American Club, 2021).

Interplay Between Mutuality, Limitation of Liability, and Standard Contractual Terms

The interplay between mutuality, limitation of liability, and standard contacts clauses creates an intricate but significant background for legal and trade aspects of P&I clubs operations (International Group of P&I Clubs, n.d.). Mutuality contributes to the owners' advantage during contractual negotiations through their ownership of the common pooled risk, and collective bargaining capabilities of the P&I Clubs (Steamship Mutual, 2023). As part of a shared society, ship-owners will enjoy the financial superiority and resources controlled by the club that will allow them to achieve full P&I coverage and favorable premium rates (North

P&I Club, 2021). The Lloyd's List article emphasizes the collaboration aspect of the IG, where P&I clubs unite to develop standardized contractual terms and procedures for the benefit of the maritime industry (Lloyd's List Intelligence, 2022). The standardization of P&I club insurance contracts with the requirements of industry and regulation ensure transparency, uniformity and legal security in dealing with customers and other stakeholders (British Maritime Law Association, 2020). Moreover, it aids the compliance with the international instruments and legal framework that manage the limitation of liability. Subsequently, this minimizes the legal risks and uncertainties for ship-owners (International Maritime Organization, n.d.). However, the functioning of standard contractual terms towards the promotion of mutuality and limitation of liability rights depends on diverse factors such as the clarity of contractual language, the enforceability of contractual provisions, and the adequacy of insurance coverage (International Chamber of Shipping, 2023). Ship-owners must carefully review and negotiate insurance contracts to ensure that their interests are adequately protected and that any limitations of liability are reasonable and fair (Polemis & Wu, 2020). P&I clubs, in turn, should perform their duties to members by offering transparent and responsive claims handling services complying with the legal and regulatory needs (American Club, 2021).

Critical Analysis and Discussion

The critical analysis of the interrelationship between mutuality, owner's legal rights and standard contractual terms discloses both the advantages and shortfalls that currently exist in the model of P&I club. While mutuality promotes the cooperation and stability amongst the members, it also poses difficulties in terms of governance, accountability, and compliance with regulatory. P&I clubs need to strike the difficult balance between serving the interests of their membership and fulfilling their duties as a mutual insurer, within a complex commercial and legal environment while maintaining the trust and integrity of the industry. The Lloyd's List article outlines the crucial role of collaboration and innovation in a evolving propensity of the challenges and opportunities of maritime insurance market. There is a necessity for P&I clubs to restructure their business policies and services in compliance with the dynamics of the shipping sector which imply the leveraging on digitalization, information analysis and sustainability to improve the effectiveness, responsiveness and competitiveness of organizations. Also, to improve P&I clubs must encourage transparency, communication and engagement between members guaranteeing that mutual benefits are shared out equally and

that the principles of mutuality and limitation of liability are upheld throughout the clubs' operations.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the principle of mutuality remains the cornerstone of P&I clubs, constituting the essence of their unique structure, operations, and values. By pooling their financial resources collectively, equally distributing the risks, and collectively bargaining, shipping P&I clubs offer crucial insurance protection and assistance to the international shipping sector, enabling financial stability, legal compliance, and commercial stability. shipowners legal rights to limitation of liability and standardized terms in contractual agreements enforce the principles of mutuality within the P&I operations contributing to the fairness, transparency, and reliability in the insurance business. While P&I clubs are confronted with multifaceted issues of a rapidly growing and changing maritime insurance market, they need to keep and maintain the principle of mutuality to bring P&I clubs closer to their members and to provide services in alignment with their needs. Adoption of the innovation; cooperation; and good governance can help P&I clubs to be appropriate, capable and sustainable in an interrelated and diversified maritime world. Furthermore, by promoting an ambience of confidence and respect among the clubs, the P&I organizations can be the strong support for the global shipping industry for long.

TASK 2

Introduction

In the given case, the accident involves a passenger ship carrier, a specialist cruise ship registered and covered for insurance by UK P&I Club and a navy patrol vessel belonging to State "V" which happened in open water. The impact brings in a partial hull damage for the passenger ship and the State-vessel sinks leading to a complete loss.

The event has led to a different claim about compensatory jurisdiction. The state of "V" intends to launch the case of compensation towards the owners of such passenger vessel via their jurisdiction. Nonetheless, the UK P&I Club maintains that the pooling proceedings should be heard in London under the English Law citing the arbitration agreement in the insurance contract.

The main issue at hand is whether the arbitration clause in the insurance contract is valid and what the consequences are of its validity. This analysis will extend into the examination of contractual provisions, key legal principles, and the resulting implications of the arbitration clause pertaining to the process of jurisdictional dispute settlement and the law applicable to the compensation proceedings.

Understanding the Arbitration Clause

In the insurance contract between the owners of the passenger vessel and the UK P&I Club, two key clauses are pertinent to the current scenario: the "pay to be paid clause" as well as the arbitration agreement (Sturley, 2024).

Pay to be Paid Clause:

Such a provision is a regular clause of the marine insurance contracts, including P&I insurance. To explain this, it states that the insured should, as an initial step, settle any liabilities or expenses which are covered in the policy. Consequently, the insured shall cover the expenses for the claimant first, then the insurer will reimburse him/her. This provision assists in preserving the financial integrity of the insurer and also provides a discouragement to fraudulent or inflated claims, thereby, ensuring that the insured has a financial stake in the resolution of claims (Merkin, 2024.).

Arbitration Agreement:

The arbitration clause, however, is an enforceable contract clause that stipulates the way the conflict resolution will be done in case of a disagreement among the parties to the contract. This would mean that in this case, the litigation clause of the insurance contract would specify that all disputes arising from the contract need to be resolved through arbitration, with London being the selected center for the arbitration. The arbitration is actually an alternative dispute resolution (ADR) mechanism in which cases are submitted to a sole or a group of arbitrators for a binding decision rather than pursuing the traditional trial in courts (Campbell, 2024).

Purpose and Significance of Arbitration Clauses:

Efficiency and Expertise: Arbitration gives to a fast and less expensive decisionmaking process compared to litigation which can be time and resource consuming. In addition to this fact, arbitrators with expertise in maritime law and industry practices are able to provide superior arbitration over maritime-related disputes (Campbell, 2024).

Confidentiality: Proceedings of arbitration are usually conducted in secret, ensuring confidentiality and conservation of important commercial information (Campbell, 2024).

Flexibility: Parties will have more freedom while choosing arbitrators, having rules, establishing processes, and arranging dates which in turn will lead to the personalization of dispute settlement (Campbell, 2024).

International Enforcement: Arbitration awards are an enforceable international instrument under the New York Convention which facilitates carrying out of judgments across boundaries and allows us to believe that current dispute resolution mechanisms are consistent and effective in global transactions (Campbell, 2024).

Applicable Law and Jurisdiction:

Analysis of Choice of Law Provision:

In the absence of any agreed provision on which law to apply in the insurance contract, it can be assumed that the policy specifies English law as the governing law. This conclusion follows from the involvement of UK P&I Club which is situated in the UK and knows that English law is most suitable for insurance contracts (Nakaide, 2024).

In marine insurance contracts, English law is mostly chosen as the applicable law given the mature body of maritime law, long-standing judicial precedents that are generally respected, and the jurisdiction's reputation for impartiality and expertise in dealing with maritime matters. Besides that, English law is famous for its clearness and predictability which play an important role in the settlement of cross-border disputes (Meggitt, 2024; Anyangwe, 2024.).

Discussion of Jurisdictional Issues:

The incident which involves the passenger vessel and the navy patrol vessel in the international waters creates the challenges related to jurisdiction concerning compensation procedures. State "V" is looking to commence proceedings of compensation against the owners of the passenger vessel through its own court system; impliedly, the state wants to recover its national navy patrol vessel. On the other hand, the UK P&I Club taking the position that any claims for compensation must be brought in London under English law because it is an arbitration agreement in the insurance contract. This declaration relies on the principle of party autonomy which allows the contracting parties to select the forum and governing law to resolve the disputes arising from the relation of the contract (Merkin, 2024).

The dispute over the jurisdiction between the State 'V' and UK P&I Club exemplifies the necessity of the arbitration clause that provides a means for resolving such type of disputes. Through designating London arbitration as the place where the disputes arising from the insurance contract are to be dealt with, the parties have consented to the jurisdiction of London arbitrators and to the arbitration process (Campbell, 2024).

Validity of the Arbitration Clause:

In assessing the validity of the arbitration clause under English law, several key principles must be considered, including consent, fairness, and enforceability. Additionally, relevant statutory and common law provisions may impact the validity of arbitration agreements in insurance contracts (Campbell, 2024).

Examination of Key Principles:

Consent: The validity of an arbitration clause depends on the consent principle, in other words, the parties will hereby choose arbitration as the mechanism of dealing with disputes in their contract. With regard to the insurance agreement between the passenger ship owners and

the UK P&I Club, the said arbitration clause should be entered into of its own free will and without duress. The element in which duress or the absence of true consent is evidenced an arbitration agreement will be considered invalid (Nazzini, 2016; Campbell, 2024).

Fairness: English courts look into arbitration clauses to ascertain if their directive entails fairness and impartial treatment of all parties involved. Among factors including the language clarity, the procedure accessibility and the impartiality of the arbitrators should be viewed as crucial aspects in determining the arbitration clause fairness. By the same token, if any conditions infringe upon the rights of another party or give one an undeserved benefit, such arbitration clause may be considered unfair and unenforceable (Nazzini, 2016; Campbell, 2024).

Enforceability: The arbitration clause must be enforceable by the English law for it to be legally binding. This comprise regulation compliances in accordance with the Arbitration Act 1996 which outlines the statutory framework for arbitration in England and Wales. The arbitration clause must be in accordance with common law certainty and clarity principles to be enforceable (Nazzini, 2016; Campbell, 2024).

Consideration of Statutory and Common Law Provisions:

Arbitration Act 1996:

The Arbitration Act 1996 governs arbitration proceedings in England and Wales and provides statutory provisions concerning the validity and enforceability of arbitration agreements. Section 5 of the Act requires an arbitration agreement to be in writing and may be contained in exchange of communications or in a document signed by the parties (Merkin and QC, 2014).

Unfair Contract Terms Act 1977

The Unfair Contract Terms Act 1977 may impact the validity of arbitration clauses if they are found to be unfair under the Act. Any terms in the arbitration clause that are deemed unfair, such as clauses limiting liability or excluding certain claims from arbitration, may be rendered unenforceable (Coote, 1978)

Legal Consequences of Validity

If the Arbitration Clause is Deemed Valid:

Implications for State "V"'s Attempt to Initiate Compensation Proceedings:

The arbitration clause, if it is deemed valid under English law, would oblige State "V" to abide by the terms of the insurance contract, including the provision stating disputes would be settled in London arbitration. In this regard, the State "V" would be restricted from the formal dispute resolution initiated by itself owing to the fact that the arbitration agreement would supersede any dispute resolution mechanisms propounded by the State "V" (Peyer, 2016).

Enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement:

The agreement for arbitration would be enforceable in England as such provision is a contractual one. Hence, any disputes relating to the sinking of the passenger vessel due to the collision with the patrol ship of the navy would be pursuant to London arbitration procedures, as outlined in the insurance agreement. Both parties would have to join in the arbitration process and accommodate themselves by the rules set by the arbitrator (Andrews, N., 2015).

If the Arbitration Clause is Deemed Invalid:

Potential Consequences for Dispute Resolution:

If the arbitration agreement is deemed invalid, the parties to the agreement will no longer have an obligation to litigate the disputes before an arbitral institution. Such a situation may possibly cause State "V" to stipulate jurisdiction and thereby commence the compensation procedure on its own jurisdiction, while the owners of the passenger vessel may choose to challenge the contested jurisdiction or pursue alternative methods of settling the dispute (Gómez Domínguez, 2007; Tesfay and Tesfay, 2021).

Examination of Alternative Methods for Resolving the Jurisdictional Conflict:

In the absence of a valid arbitration clause, parties in dispute would search for other means to deal with the issues like lacking jurisdiction. It can imply a peaceful process, when the aforesaid parties negotiate to agree on a "common venue" for settling the dispute, or submitting to the jurisdiction of an international court or tribunal, which has jurisdiction to determine maritime disputes (Bush, 1984; Tesfay and Tesfay, 2021).

Determining Applicable Law:

With the absence of a properly worded arbitration clause specifically outlining the law that will apply, it becomes harder to determine what law actually applies. The parties may need to assess issues pertaining to applicable law principles inclusive of flag state law, law of the place where the accident took place or the law defined in any relevant international conventions on collision at sea. Contractual provisions, forum selection clauses, as well as relevant treaties and agreements between the states are some of the factors that may have to be taken into consideration while determining the applicable law (Horton, 2018).

Case Law

Premium Nafta Products Ltd v Fili Shipping Co Ltd [2007] UKHL 40

It reinforced the principles set down in this matter on the one hand, and highlighted the pro-arbitration nature of the English courts on the other. In particular, the decision is indicative of the role of arbitration clauses as an enforceable part of a contract, unless there is a valid reason to the contrary (Steven Gee, 2008).

Naviera Amazonica Peruana S.A. v Campania Interncional de Seguros del Peru (The 'Santa Clara') [1988] 1 Lloyd's Rep 116:

It reinforced the principles set down in this matter on the one hand, and highlighted the pro-arbitration nature of the English courts on the other. In particular, the decision is indicative of the role of arbitration clauses as an enforceable part of a contract, unless there is a valid reason to the contrary (Ashford, 2014).

Conclusion

To conclude, the legal validity of the arbitration clause in the insurance contract between the vessel owners and the UK P&I Club will hinge on its compliance with basic legal principles and the precedents set by relevant court rulings. The existence of the arbitration clause serves as the ground for the court to decide on State 'V' to comply with the terms prescribed in the contract such as the submission of the dispute in London arbitration.

Nevertheless, if the arbitration clause is deemed ineffective, the parties will face an uphill task of seeking alternative ways to resolve the jurisdictional dispute including

determination of applicable law. It could involve litigation in different courts or talks to reach an agreement that the two sides can accept.

Recommendations:

Negotiation and Mediation

The two parties may consider pursuing talks or mediation in order to find a peaceful resolution of their boundary conflict and avoid a long drawn lawsuit.

Compliance with Contractual Obligations

Both Parties must observe the terms of the insurance contract, including the valid arbitration clause, to prevent breaches of contractual obligations and legal violation.

Seek Legal Advice

The increasing complexity of jurisdictional disputes and arbitration proceedings requires all parties to seek legal advice from accomplished maritime lawyers to evaluate their rights, undertakings, and possibilities for settlement.

Efficient Dispute Resolution

Efficient Dispute Resolution: Despite of arbitration clause validity, it is important to choose dispute resolution methods that are timely, cost-efficient and legally acceptable

References

- American Club. (2021). About the American Club. American Club. Retrieved from https://www.american-club.com/about
- Andrews, N., 2015. Arbitration and Contract Law. Ius Gentium: Comparative Persepctive on Law and Justice, 54.
- Anyangwe, C., 2024. The Waters of Ambazonia: The Blue Economy, Jurisdiction, and Maritime Criminality. In In Search of an Independent Ambazonian Nation: Dimensions of Identity and Freedom (pp. 333-359). Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland.
- Ashford, P., 2014. Handbook on international commercial arbitration. Juris Publishing, Inc.
- British Maritime Law Association. (2020). Limitation of Liability: The international convention on limitation of liability for maritime claims 1976. British Maritime Law Association. Retrieved from http://www.bmla.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Limitation-of-Liability.pdf
- Bush, R.A.B., 1984. Dispute resolution alternatives and the goals of civil justice: Jurisdictional principles for process choice. Wis. L. Rev., p.893.
- Campbell, M., 2024. Arbitration agreements. In The Model Law Approach to International Commercial Arbitration (pp. 30-60). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Coote, B., 1978. Unfair Contract Terms Act 1977. The Modern Law Review, 41(3), pp.312-324.
- Gard. (2023). About Gard. Gard. Retrieved from https://www.gard.no/web/about-gard
- Gómez Domínguez, L.A., 2007. Causes and consequences of faulty arbitration clauses. Estudios Socio-Jurídicos, 9(2), pp.111-141.
- Horton, D., 2018. Clause construction: a glimpse into judicial and arbitral decision-making. Duke LJ, 68, p.1323.
- International Chamber of Shipping. (2023). Liability and Compensation for Ship-Source Oil Pollution. International Chamber of Shipping. Retrieved from https://www.icsshipping.org/docs/default-source/resources/ics-liability-and-compensation-for-shipsource-oil-pollution---3rd-edition---2023.pdf
- International Group of P&I Clubs. (n.d.). About the International Group. Retrieved from https://www.igpandi.org/about
- International Maritime Organization. (n.d.). Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims (LLMC) 1976, as amended. Retrieved from https://www.imo.org/en/About/Conventions/ListOfConventions/Pages/Conventionon-Limitation-of-Liability-for-Maritime-Claims-(LLMC),-1976,-as-amended-(LLMC-76).aspx
- International Transport Forum. (2022). Maritime Safety and Security: The Case of Maritime Transport Insurance. International Transport Forum. Retrieved from https://www.itf-oecd.org/maritime-safety-and-security-case-maritime-transport-insurance
- Lloyd's List Intelligence. (2022, March 5). P&I Clubs: Insurance for Shipowners. Lloyd's List Intelligence. Retrieved from https://www.lloydslistintelligence.com/llintelligence/library/insurance/p-i-clubs-insurance-for-shipowners
- Meggitt, G., 2024. Marine insurance fraud and emerging technology. In Research Handbook on Marine Insurance Law (pp. 275-305). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Merkin, R. and QC, L.F., 2014. Arbitration act 1996. Informa law from Routledge.
- Merkin, R., 2024. Protection & indemnity clubs and arbitration clauses. In Research Handbook on Marine Insurance Law (pp. 183-203). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Merkin, R., 2024. Protection & indemnity clubs and arbitration clauses. In Research Handbook on Marine Insurance Law (pp. 183-203). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Nakaide, S., 2024. Marine insurance law as a treasure trove of legal principles. In Research Handbook on Marine Insurance Law (pp. 6-25). Edward Elgar Publishing.

- Nazzini, R., 2016. The law applicable to the arbitration agreement: towards transnational principles. International & Comparative Law Quarterly, 65(3), pp.681-703.
- North P&I Club. (2021). What is Mutual Insurance? North P&I Club. Retrieved from https://www.nepia.com/insights/what-is-mutual-insurance/
- Peyer, S., 2016. Compensation and the Damages Directive. European Competition Journal, 12(1), pp.87-112.
- Polemis, D., & Wu, L. (2020). Mutual insurance in maritime transport: Historical evolution and recent developments. Maritime Policy & Management, 47(2), 184–202.
- Steamship Mutual. (2023). Understanding P&I Insurance. Steamship Mutual. Retrieved from https://www.steamshipmutual.com/publications/Articles/understandingpandainsuranc e0523.htm
- Steven Gee, Q.C., 2008. Agora: Thoughts on Fiona Trust: Jurisdiction: the Validity and Width of Arbitration Agreements, and the House of Lords Decision in Premium Nafta Products Ltd v. Fili Shipping Co. Ltd. Arbitration International, 24(3), pp.467-474.
- Sturley, M., 2024. Choice-of-law issues in marine insurance cases in the United States. In Research Handbook on Marine Insurance Law (pp. 223-243). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Tesfay, S.Y. and Tesfay, S.Y., 2021. Arbitration Agreement: Validity, Lapse and Interpretation. International Commercial Arbitration: Legal and Institutional Infrastructure in Ethiopia, pp.23-56.
- The Standard Club. (2022). What is mutual insurance? Standard Club Knowledge. Retrieved from https://www.standard-club.com/knowledge-and-news/faq/what-is-mutual-insurance
- UK P&I Club. (2022). Our History. UK P&I Club. Retrieved from https://www.ukpandi.com/about-us/our-history/